Ferrocenylethynyl - A Versatile Platform for New Molecules to Novel Materials

Hakikulla H. Shah, Rayya A. Al-Belushi and Muhammad S. Khan*

Department of Chemistry, College of Science, Sultan Qaboos University, P.O. Box: 36, PC 123, Al-Khod, Muscat, Sultanate of Oman. *E-mail: msk@squ.edu.om.

ABSTRACT: Ferrocenylethynyl is a key starting material for the synthesis of fascinating new molecules and novel functional materials. It combines the robust and redox-active ferrocene moiety with the rigid-rod ethynyl unit. The ferrocene center provides chemically and electrochemically switchable material properties whereas the ethynyl backbone facilitates electron delocalization along the molecule, yielding materials with the potential for a wide range of applications from sensors to bio-organometallics and pharmaceuticals, from catalysts to nonlinear optical materials, and from fuel additives to chelating agents. However, lifetime performances and costs still need to be optimized to make ferrocenylethynyl-based materials commercially competitive. Efficient synthetic methods are already in place which could play a key role in the progress of these materials. This review discusses the main approaches adopted in the synthesis of ferrocenylethynyl-based molecules and materials. Representative examples of each method are reported, highlighting its significant achievements together with the open issues and challenges to be faced by future researchers in this area.

Keywords: Ferrocene; Ethynyls; Electrochemistry; Synthesis; Organometallic.

فيروسينايل إيثينيل - منصة متعددة لجزيئات جديدة في تحضير مواد مبتكرة

حقيق الله شاه وريا البلوشية ومحمد صلاح الدين خان

ملخص: يعتبر فيروسينايل إيثينايل المادة الأساسية في تحضير جزيئات جديدة مهمة ومواد وظيفية. هذه المادة تجمع بين الفيروسين الذي يتميز بقوته وصلابته وقدرته النشطة على التأكسد والأخترال والإيثينايل المسطح. الفيروسين يوفر خصائص المواد التشغيلية الكيميائية والكهروكيميائية بينما وجود الإيثاين كخلفية للمادة يضمن عدم تمركز فعال للإلكترونات على طول الجزيء والذي يولد مواد ذات احتمالية للإستخدام في مدى واسع من التطبيقات من المجسات إلى العضوية الفلزية الإحيائية والأدوية ومن العوامل الحفازة إلى المواد الضوئية غير الخطية ومن مضافات الوقود إلى العوامل الإرتباطية إلى آخره. ولكن وبالرغم من ذلك، فإن كفاءة العمر الزمني والتكايف بحل مواد الفيروسينايل إيثينايل منافسة تجارياً. وتلعب التاويرات في منهاجية التحضير الفعل دوراً هاماً في تفعيل هذا النوع بن الحرسين لجعل مواد الفيروسينايل إيثينايل منافسة تجارياً. وتلعب التطويرات في منهاجية التحضير الفعل دوراً هاماً في تفعيل هذا النوع من العراض مواد الفيروسينايل إيثينايل منافسة تجارياً. وتلعب التطويرات في منهاجية التحضير الفعل دوراً هاماً في تفعيل هذا النوع من العرض يناقش أهم ما تم التوصل إليه في تحضير الجزيئات والمواد المكونة أساساً من الفيروسينايل ايثينايل، ويتم خلال عرض منهجيات التحضير المختلية أمم ما تم التوصل إليه في تحضير الجزيئات والمواد المكونة أساساً من الفيروسينايل ايثينايل، ويتم خلال عرض المختلفة طرح بعض الأمثلة التوضيحية مع إلقاء الضوء على النتائج المهمة التي تم التوصل إليها والتحديات التي يجب مواجهتها في الأبحاث المستقبلية في هذا المجال.

مفتاح الكلمات: فيروسين، إيثينايل، كهروكيميائية، تحضير وعضوية معدنية.

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 1.1 Synthetic flexibility: Tuning the properties of Ferrocenyl Materials
- 2. Synthetic protocol for ferrocenylethynyl connected to conjugated organic spacers
 - 2.1 Type I Ferrocene Materials
 - 2.2 Type II Ferrocene Materials
 - 2.3 Type III Ferrocene Materials
 - 2.3.1 Electrical conductivity
 - 2.3.2 Electronic properties
 - 2.4 Type IV Ferrocene Materials
 - 2.4.1 Effect of spacer group
 - 2.4.2 Effect of chain length
 - 2.4.3 Effect of electrolyte
- 3. Ferrocenylethynyls connected through a metal bridge
- 3.1 Ferrocene termini linked to metal bridge by covalent bond
- 3.2 Tuning the properties by metal bridging
 - 3.2.1 Electro-luminescence property
 - 3.2.2 Electronic communication
 - 3.2.3 Redox control
- 3.3 Ferrocene termini linked to metal bridge by coordination bond
- 4. Present outlook and Future directions
- 5. Acknowledgements
- 6. References

1. Introduction

Even six decades after its discovery, ferrocene still remains a hot topic for new materials researchers. Ferrocene and ferrocene-based materials are versatile and have been successfully used in a variety of domains such as electrochemistry [1-4], sensors [5], nonlinear optics and luminescent systems [6,7], pharmaceuticals [8,9], automobiles [10,11], fine organic synthesis [12], materials chemistry [13-17], liquid crystals [18-20], paramagnetic and ferromagnetic systems [21,22] and bio-organometallic chemistry [23], etc. During its long journey ferrocene chemistry has witnessed the emergence of many structural motifs built around the ferrocene platform, suitably grafting ene, phenylene(ethylene) and ethynyl spacers between two ferrocenes or between a ferrocene and an organic/inorganic group.

Compounds having an ene-terminus in the arm(s) are building blocks for metathesis and polymerization reactions leading to organometallic oligo/polymers or metallophanes. On the other hand, examples of motifs having conjugated all π -arms are relatively rare and are viewed as promising candidates in building nano-architectures. It is now generally accepted that an unsaturated adjunct acts as a messenger to facilitate communication between the arm and the redox centre.

This leads to synergistic perturbation of the electronic, opto-electronic and electrochemical properties of the molecule. Not surprisingly, compounds belonging to such motifs find end applications in diverse areas ranging from metallo-mesogens through NLO-active organometallics to redox-switch receptors. The significant potential of this special class of ferrocenes is expected to witness further exploration on many fronts.

Togni *et al.* [24,25] and others have shown that chiral and achiral ferrocenyl phosphines can be used as ligands in organic synthesis and asymmetric catalysis for carbon–carbon, carbon–heteroatom coupling, carbonylation, hydroformylation, hydrogenation, olefin polymerization and cycloaddition [26,27]. Gallei *et al.* have shown that the oxidation state of the ferrocene can affect the wettability of surfaces modified with poly(vinylferrocene) or poly(2-(methacryloyloxy)ethyl ferrocenecarboxylate) [28]. Kadkin has reviewed mono- and di-substituted ferrocenes containing liquid crystals and shown that liquid crystalline ferrocene exhibits unique physical properties [29]. Undoubtedly, the design motif in ferrocene-based architectures plays the most important role in delivering the targeted property. Linearly substituted ferrocene architectures. Very

HAKIKULLA H. SHAH ET AL

broadly, these are of three types - olefinic, ethynyl and cumulenic as shown in **Chart 1**. In the past two decades different research groups have developed a range of these architectures with the sole aim of tuning their chemical, electrochemical, spectroscopic and opto-electronic properties. As a result, they have gained prominence as new generation molecular materials, π -conjugated multi-metallic systems and as redox-switchable receptors.

In this review, we have concentrated on ferrocenyl alkyne type molecules and materials and focused on this special class of ferrocenyl materials, with a view to developing a comparative assessment of recent advances in their synthesis and properties. We have also attempted to look closely into these systems under sub-categories representing types of spacers in the backbone chain and to highlight selected examples.

1.1 Synthetic flexibility: Tuning the properties of Ferrocenyl Materials

Ferrocene derivatives with linear, unsaturated side-arms show unique properties compared to their saturated analogues. Some of these properties include electrical conductivity, thermal stability, magnetic, electronic, redox, and non-linear optical behaviour. This can be attributed to the electronic interaction of both metal- and ligand-based orbitals of ferrocene platform with the orbitals of the π -conjugated substituents in the side chain. Not surprisingly, some of the properties are dramatically dependent on the nature and conjugation length of the substituents. In this section, we closely look into these properties with special emphasis on the electronic, redox and optical effects of ferrocenes with an ethynyl conjugation. In the ferrocenyl alkynes, the linear alkyne arm(s) may bear all carbon or hetero elements, heterocyclic rings, conjugated and non-conjugated spacers and may have an extended π -conjugation with another ferrocene nucleus. Four structural types represent the majority of ferrocenes with a linear open-arm motif depending on whether the ferrocene nucleus is mono- or di-substituted or whether the ferrocene acts as a pillar to form "molecular clefts" (see **Chart 2**). Within the linear open-end motifs, those in which the ferrocene unit is connected to an unsaturated alkyne side-arm, π -conjugated to the Cp ring are of significant interest. Herein we review recent advances in their synthesis and properties and attempt to look closely into these systems under sub-categories representing types of attachments in the side chain and to draw attention to selected examples in detail.



Chart 1. Linear structures of ferrocene.



Chart 2. Types of ferrocenes with an unsaturated backbone.

FERROCENYLETHYNYL - A VERSATILE PLATFORM

2. Synthetic protocol for ferrocenylethynyl connected to conjugated organic spacers

Several methods for syntheses of ferrocenyls with an ethynyl backbone using the cross-coupling reactions, such as Sonogashira coupling, Negishi coupling, Stille coupling and Stephens-Castro coupling, have been reported in the literature (see **Scheme 1**). In this section, we examine the synthetic routes in detail.

Successive Sonogashira coupling of iodoferrocene with ethynyl substrates has been achieved in the presence of catalytic amounts of $PdCl_2((PPh_3)_2)/Cu(OAc)_2$ in ${}^{i}Pr_2NH$ at 90 °C to give ferrocenylethynyl complex (**A**) in high yield [30]. Iodoferrocene has also been the starting material for the synthesis of many ferrocenylethynyl derivatives through various coupling pathways [31-33]. Stille coupling using 4-pyridyl(trimethylstannyl)ethyne and iodoferrocene has also been used to synthesize ferrocenylethynyl compound (**B**). Negishi coupling of the organozinc component with iodoferrocene has also been used for generation of extended ferrocenylethynyl (**C**) [34]. The Stephens-Castro coupling has been utilized by reacting iodoferrocene with the corresponding copper arylacetylide to synthesize arylferrocenylethyne (**A**) in 26–50% yield in refluxing DMF rather than the usual pyridine as solvent. It is noteworthy that refluxing equimolar amounts of iodoferrocene and cuprous phenylethynyl in pyridine for 8 h under N₂ provides the same ferrocenylethynyl (**A**) in 84% yield. In an analogous manner, coupling of iodoferrocene and cuprous ferrocenylethynyl) (Fc-C≡C-Fc) in 85% yield.

2.1 Type I Ferrocene Materials

Among the methods described, Sonogashira coupling has been the most extensively used due to its good yield and better quality of end product [35]. Furthermore, most of the terminal ethynyl compounds are not stable in air and at ambient temperature. Ethynylferrocene is stable at room temperature, easy to handle and gives higher yield compared to the iodoferrocene starting material. Hence, it is a good choice as the key starting material for coupling reactions with the dihalo-aromatic and hetero-aromatic spacers to obtain the desired cross-coupled products. Often this reaction is accompanied by a minor by-product arising from the homocoupling of the ethynyl units, which can be avoided by maintaining a rigorous inert atmosphere. The (1:1) Sonogashira coupling of ethynylferrocene with mono-halo aromatics such as benzene, naphthalene, anthracene, etc., or mono-halo hetero-aromatics such as thiophene, pyridine, bipyridine, etc., or with monohalo mixed hetero-aromatic ligands has given rise to novel compounds which have direct applications or which act as precursors for further new materials developments.



Scheme 1. Synthetic protocol for ferrocenylethynyl connected to conjugated organic spacers.

General representation of ethynylferrocenes capped with aryl and various substituted aryls (R) placed in conjugation with the ethynyl unit is shown in **Chart 3** [36]. The use of a wide range of 'R' shows that the reaction tolerates both electron-withdrawing as well as electron-donating spacers providing functional molecules and new materials [37]. For example, the compound prepared by the coupling of ethynylferrocene with 4-bromopyridine serves as a ligand with terminal pyridine as the coordinating site (**5**,**6**) [38]. A similar coordination site is also provided by dangling ligands like 4-BrC₆H₄C=N. The reaction leads to compound **7** in 84% yield [39]. This compound with an additional C=N ligating site serves as the basis for the preparation

of oligonuclear ferrocene-based transition metal complexes [34,40]. By coupling ethynylferrocene with the appropriate mono-bromooligothiophene, substituted thiophene and fused thiophene unit, a new series of type I ferrocenyl derivatives has been synthesized (8-12) [41].

Compound 13 is a much more extended phenylethynyl congener linked to a metallic end-cap *via* a fluoren-9-one spacer [42]. Extended one-dimensional conjugated compounds (14-16) have also been synthesized by incorporating oligothiophene spacers on the ethynyl skeleton (Chart 4).



Chart 3. General chemical structures of some mono-(ferrocenylethynyl) derivatives.



Chart 4. General chemical structures of one-dimensional mono-(ferrocenylethynyl)compounds with extended conjugation.



Chart 5. General chemical structures of mono-(ferrocenylethynyl) compounds.

Interestingly, placing a benzonitrile and pyridine group on the ethynyl skeleton has provided an added opportunity for further coordination to a metal complex precursor such as a $Pd(PPh_3)_2$ unit (17), giving rise to the trimetallic species and subsequent metal coordination to tungsten providing mixed-valence bimetallic fragments (18-21), that are potential candidates for molecular wires (Chart 5). Indeed, an insight into the

delocalization along the conjugated backbone can be obtained from the analysis of their strong ligand to metal charge-transfer bands [34,40]. Ferrocenylethynyls capped with electron-accepting groups result in nonlinear optical properties. Compound **22** is an example having a tricarbonyl(cyclohexadienyl) iron(1+) unit acting as the electron accepting cap [43]. The interesting aspect of the molecule is that, it not only shows a high hyperpolarisability (γ) value of 100 x 10⁻³⁰ esu (in comparison to $\gamma = 16.9 \times 10^{-30}$ esu for 4-nitroaniline), but also has a chiral electron accepting organometallic end-group. Thus, type I ferrocenylethynyls capped with aromatic, hetero-aromatic and metallic substituents are synthesized with the aim of exploiting optical, opto-electronic and other material properties.

2.2 Type II Ferrocene Materials

The second type of motif consists of two *cis*-disubstituted ferrocene units interlinked by extended ethynyl bonds. Examples of this type of ferrocenes are rare. In the late 60s, Hedberg and co-workers reported the synthesis of biferrocenylene (without the ethynyl bridge) [44], they were followed by Rosenblum and co-workers who reported the first member of this class of ferrocenes having bridging ethynyl groups [2.2]ferrocenophane-1,13-diyne (see Chart 6) [45].



Chart 6. Chemical structure of bi(ferrocenylethynyl) compound.

This was achieved by coupling of the cuprous salt of 1-ethynyl-1'-iodoferrocene. Later, Livanda and coworkers investigated this compound for its electrochemical properties and presented a comparison with the biferrocenylene [46]. The monocation of [2.2]ferrocenophane-1,13-diyne had a near-infrared band (λ 1760 nm, ϵ 2100) at lower energy and higher intensity than the corresponding biferrocenylene monocation [47]. The electrochemical and spectral results suggest that [2.2]ferrocenophane-1,13-diyne is a delocalized analogue of the biferrocenylene cation.

2.3 Type III Ferrocene Materials

The third type of motif consists of two *trans*-disubstituted ferrocene units linked by extended ethynyl units to form oligomers and polymers. Ingham *et al.* were the first to synthesize monomeric, dimeric and polymeric ferrocenylethynyls incorporating the phenylene spacer by reacting 1,1'-diiodoferrocene with monoand bis-alkynyltrimethylstannanes [48].

They also reported a crystal structure of the bis(phenylethynylferrocene) which showed a *cis*conformation. Yamamoto and co-workers [7] were one of the earlier research groups to report the synthesis of a series of ferrocenylethynyl polymers (**24-28**) incorporating carbocyclic and heterocyclic spacers using Sonogashira synthesis. They also reported a model compound (**29**) for comparison which showed *cis*conformation similar to earlier reports (see **Chart 7**).



Chart 7. General chemical structures of ferrocenylethynyl polymers.

Electrochemical investigation of these materials showed broadening in the cylic voltammetry peaks. They compared the CV peak broadening of the poly(ferrocenylethynyl)s with that of a diphenylethynylferrocene model compound and further compared both of these with the CV peak of parent ferrocene. They found that the parent ferrocene peak compares well with that of the diphenylethynylferrocene model compound, which eliminated the involvement of the diethynyl bridging unit in the broadening of the CV peaks. Plenio *et al.* conducted a more systematic study by synthesizing a series of ferrocenylethynyl oligomers and performing a systematic evaluation of the cyclic voltammograms and also complementing the results by differential pulse voltammograms [49]. Both groups proposed that the broadening in the CV could be due to the presence of closely spaced redox processes of the adjacent ferrocene units in the polymer.

2.3.1 Electrical conductivity

Designing and preparing molecular wires with good charge transport capacity is of crucial importance to the development of molecular electronics. When ferrocene is incorporated in the organic chain it enhances the charge mobility along the chain. A recent report demonstrates how the conductivity of an oligo(p-phenylene ethynylene) chain (**30-36**) increases (**Figure 1**) by incorporating ferrocene into molecular backbones (**37-40**). Lu *et al.* [50] have successfully enhanced the molecular conductance of oligo(p-phenylene ethynylene)s (**30-36**) in both tunnelling and hopping conduction regimes. Specifically, they found that the increased degree of molecular conductance in the hopping regime is much more than that in the tunnelling regime [50]. In **Figure 1** a plot of ln R (R = resistance) *vs.* molecular length shows that molecules of the same length containing ferrocene i.e. (**37, 38, 39** and **40**) in the backbone have lower resistance which implies they have higher conductance compared to the purely organic oligo(p-phenylene ethynylene)s (**30, 32, 34** and **36**) respectively.

2.3.2 Electronic properties

The electronic structure of ferrocene includes three highest filled levels resulting from d_{xy} , d_{x2-y2} (e_{2g}) and d_z^2 (a_{1g}) orbitals, which are essentially metal-based, while the next highest orbitals (e_{1u}) are principally ligand-based. The molecular orbitals resulting from the d_{xz} and d_{yz} bonding interactions (e_{1g}) are occupied, while the antibonding counterpart (e^*_{1g}) remains vacant. The molecular orbital energy level diagram of ferrocene and those with maximum d-character (highlighted in the box) are shown in **Figure 2** [51].

Generally, two prominent bands are observed for ferrocenyl compounds in the visible region. In agreement with previous experimental work and theoretical treatment, the higher energy band (300–390 nm) is assigned to a π - π * intra-ligand transition, and the lower energy band (400–500 nm) is assigned to a metal to ligand charge-transfer band (MLCT). In addition, another very weak band at higher wavelength (about 500 nm), assigned as d–d transition, is sometimes discernible as a shoulder on the MLCT band [52]. Attaching a conjugated system to ferrocene causes significant perturbation of the ligand-based (e_{1u}) orbitals. With increasing conjugation length, the energy of the π * orbital is lowered resulting in a red shift of the π - π * transition [53]. An increase in wavelength with degree of conjugation is also observed for the ferrocenylethynyl derivatives having fluorenone spacers. It is also clear that the increase in the number of ethynyl units from n = 1 to 2 leads to further red shift in the absorption maxima, consistent with the more extended π -conjugation. For example, there is a linear relationship reported between the λ_{max} for d-d transition and 1/n (n = number of ferrocenylethynyl units) for monomers and oligo-ynes with a limiting value of 472 nm for 1/n = 1/ ∞ (**Figure 3**).

These effects have been found to be linear in ferrocenylethynyl poly-ynes and oligo-ynes. In addition, the extinction coefficient is reported to increase with 'n'. It is thus evident that the ferrocene d-d transition is coupled to the conjugated main chain [49]. The spectra and extinction coefficients of the ferrocenylethynyl oligo-ynes in CH_3CN and CH_2Cl_2 show only a weak solvatochromic effect between the two solvents. Since solvatochromic behaviour reflects the polarizability of a chromophore, studying the electronic spectra provides an important means to measure the magnitude of nonlinear properties in a donor-acceptor bridged molecule [49].





Figure 1. Chemical structures of oligo(*p*-phenylene ethynylene) chains (**30-36**) without and with ferrocene (**37-40**) and plot of ln R *vs.* molecular length (bottom). Adapted with permission from ref [50]. Copyright (**2012**) American Chemical Society.



Figure 2. Molecular orbital energy levels in ferrocene. Adapted with permission from ref [51].



Figure 3. Plot of variation of λ_{max} with 1/n (λ_{max} d-d transition, n = number of ferrocene). Adapted with permission from ref [49]. Copyright (**2000**) WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH, Weinheim.



Chart 8. Selected bis(ferrocenylethynyl) compounds.

FERROCENYLETHYNYL - A VERSATILE PLATFORM

2.4 Type IV Ferrocene Materials

The fourth type of motif consists of two ferrocene units linked by ethynyl fragments and organic/inorganic spacers. By tuning the size and shape of the spacers, elegant molecular architectures with possible electronic communication between the metal centres along the conjugated backbone have been achieved. The Sonogashira coupling has also been extended to the bis(ferrocenylethynyls) by reacting ethynylferrocene with dihaloaryl precursors in the presence of $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$ and CuI catalysts in refluxing ${}^{i}Pr_2NH$. Similar to the mono(ferrocenylethynyl) compounds, a variety of bis(ferrocenylethynyl) compounds have been prepared by incorporating aromatic, hetero-aromatic, mixed hetero-aromatic and metal bridging ligands. A few representative examples are shown in **Chart 10**.

A few examples of ferrocenyl end-capped ethynyl complexes incorporating a wide range of aromatic and hetero-aromatic spacers (R) are presented in Chart 8 [44,41,53,54]. The electron donating or electron withdrawing properties of the conjugated spacer groups have been used to tune the redox properties of the ferrocenvlethynyl dvads (45-51) [35,54]. Zhu *et al.* demonstrated that the potential difference (ΔE) between the two redox waves of the bis(ferrocenylethynyl) can be varied from 0.38 to 1.12 V, depending on the length and substitution of the oligothiophene group (49-53) [41]. Along this line, Wong et al. [53] designed a series of ferrocenyl end-capped derivatives (54-55) by varying the number of ethynyl units and the nature of the fluorene spacer in order to study the combined effect of the nature of spacer and the number of ethynyl units [53]. Electrochemical studies reveal that the half-wave potential of the terminal ferrocene becomes more anodic upon increasing the number of ethynyl units. Secondly, on changing the 9-substituent of the central fluorene ring from electron-rich alkyl (57) or ferrocenyl group (59-60) to an electron-deficient oxo group (56), the half-wave potential of the terminal ferrocene can be made more anodic. Yuan et al. have designed a series of bis(ferrocenylethynyl) complexes incorporating 1,10-phenanthroline spacer [55]. These bidentate ligands were used to synthesise a series of rare-earth β -diketonate complexes 61-64. The presence of ferrocene in these complexes has been reported to shift the ligand absorption band to longer wavelengths, which in turn facilitates the excitation of these complexes by ultraviolet radiation and also by visible light.

2.4.1 Effect of spacer groups

Shah *et al.* recently reported a new series of bis(ferrocenylethynyl) complexes incorporating novel heterocyclic spacers [1]. They also synthesized one mono(ferrocenylethynyl) compound for comparison with the bis(ferrocenylethynyl)s (see **Chart 9**). The objective was to create donor-acceptor type structural motifs to enhance the communication between the two ferrocene termini. Broadened CV peak potentials for complexes **66-70** were observed without significant splitting of the mid-point potential. This was attributed to considerably longer Fe-Fe distance of around ~14 Å in complexes **66-70**, as established by X-ray crystallographic studies. Plenio and others have attributed similar broadening of the CV peak to the presence of closely spaced redox processes in those ferrocenylethynyl poly-ynes and oligo-ynes reported previously [49,56-58]. The CV features were reproduced by digital simulation which confirmed that the broadening in the CV peaks can be reconciled with the presence of two individual, closely spaced, one-electron processes (see **Figure 4**). The $\Delta E_{1/2}$ values suggest that they belong to Class II according to the Robin and Day classification scheme, with modest coupling [59].



Chart 9. Chemical structures of bis(ferrocenylethynyl) complexes (65-70) and a mono(ferrocenylethynyl) complex (71).



Figure 4. Selected simulation curves (red circles) matched with cyclic voltammograms (black line) for bis(ferrocenylethynyl) complexes 65(A), 66(B), 68(C) & 70(D). Reprinted with permission from ref [1]. Copyright (2013) American Chemical Society.

Recent reports suggest that electron withdrawing spacers play a positive role in improving the communication between the terminal ferrocene units [60-62]. Solntsev and co-workers demonstrated significant electronic communication in bis(ferrocenyl) complexes separated by electron withdrawing spacers having Fe-Fe distance <8Å [60]. Similar trends were seen in complex **67**. Despite a Fe-Fe distance of 13.494 Å, it showed $\Delta E_{1/2}$ 110 mV, which was not too dissimilar compared to values for *para*-diferrocenylbenzene [63]. The electron withdrawing nature of the spacer influences the net conjugation effect over-riding the Fe-Fe distance separation in this particular comparison. Another example demonstrating the effect of the spacer group is the bimetallic complexes reported by Mercs *et al.*, where the bis(NHC) spacer exhibited weaker interactions ($\Delta E_{1/2} = 42-80$ mV) despite having direct metal-NHC connections and Fe-Fe distances of less than 11 Å [56]. Complexes **66-70** with Fe-Fe distance of ~14 Å and $\Delta E_{1/2}$ values of 50 to 110 mV represent long-range intra-molecular electronic communication [64,65].

The formation of the monocationic species was investigated by spectro-electrochemical methods (**Figure 5**). The changes in the spectrum in response to the applied potential confirmed the formation of an IVCT band as a result of mono-oxidation. The spectro-electrochemical experiments showed that upon oxidation of reported complex **65** to **65**⁺, the intensity of the low energy MLCT bands decreases, while the intensity of the higher energy, predominantly $\pi - \pi^*$ band, increases. The NIR band was assigned as an IVCT transition as this band disappears on further oxidation by increasing the potential [64]. Similar observations were found for complexes **66-70**. The IVCT nature was further confirmed by comparing the bis(ferrocenylethynyl) complexes with the mono(ferrocenylethynyl) complex, both containing the dithienothiophene spacer. The mono(ferrocenylethynyl) complex **71** showed no band in the NIR region; instead it showed a band at 760 nm which was assigned as a LMCT band and has been previously reported for mono(ferrocenylethynyls).

Complexes **65** and **67** were studied computationally to get a better insight into the intra-molecular interaction processes (see **Figure 6**). For **65** the HOMO shows extensive delocalization across the whole molecule, with contributions of 26 (Fe), 11 (C_5H_4) and 23% (C=C-C=C) from the contributing fragments. Similarly, the HOMO for **67**, though less symmetrical than for **65**, has contributions of 33, 20 (Fe, Fe), 11, 8 (C_5H_4 , C_5H_4), 7, 7 (C=C, C=C) and 14% (C_6NSN).

2.4.2 Effect of chain length

Electrochemistry has been extensively used to study the property sequence that occurs on changing the length and nature of the conjugated substituents attached to the ferrocene platform. Chain lengthening of the π -conjugated system results in a non-linear decrease of the redox potentials due to charge delocalization and stabilization of the ferrocene dimers with ethynyl bridges. Due to the two redox centres, these complexes are expected to show two redox potentials. The peak separation denoted by $\Delta E_{1/2}$ indicates the extent of

internuclear electron transfer. Dependence of electron transfer with chain length is clearly established in the bis(ferrocenylethynyls) such as $Fc_2(C\equiv C)_n$ (n = 0, 1, 2, 3,) [46,65,66]. Another notable feature is the dependence of the Fc/Fc^+ redox potential on the chemical nature of the conjugated spacer group in the ferrocenyl derivatives. Electron withdrawing fragments attached to the terminus of the conjugated spacer stabilize the neutral Fc over the cationic Fc^+ , and result in an anodic shift of the redox-wave compared to that of the free ferrocene.



Figure 5. UV-vis spectra of complexes 65(A), 66(B), 70(C) & 71(D). (i) data for the neutral spectra, (ii) the mono-cation, and difference spectra (iii-v) are shown. Adapted with permission from ref [1]. Copyright (2013) American Chemical Society.

Some good examples are given by Maragani *et al.* who have synthesized a series of monofunctionalized ferrocenyl ethynyls and investigated the donor-acceptor interaction between the ferrocene and the ligands [67]. In the bis(ferrocenylethynyls), the nature of the spacer group has been very well utilized to tune the redox properties and the intra-molecular electronic communication of the complexes [35,53]. Wong *et al.* have incorporated electron-rich and electron-deficient groups in the bis(ferrocenylethynyl) complexes and presented a systematic study of the redox behaviour of the ferrocenes. The study reveals that the redox potential can be made anodic with the use of electron-deficient spacers in the bis(ferrocenylethnyls) and vice versa. In the same report, they also varied the $(C \equiv C)_n$ unit from 1 to 2 and found that the increase in the ethynyl unit also increased the redox potential in the complexes [53].



Figure 6. HOMO of complexes 65 (left) and 67 (right). Reprinted with permission from ref [1]. Copyright (2013) American Chemical Society.

2.4.3 Effect of electrolyte

There are few examples of higher number of ferrocenes connected through a bridging organic spacer. Compound **72** reported by Fink *et al.* having three ferrocene termini connected by the triethynylbenzene core is noteworthy as it may be viewed as a potential precursor for the production of metal-aromatic poly-yne

HAKIKULLA H. SHAH ET AL

networks [69]. Diallo *et al.* have reported examples of six ferrocenes connected to a hexaethynylbenzene core [69]. They demonstrated that redox chemistry of such molecules is highly sensitive to an ion-paring dependant electrostatic effect. They used substituted and un-substituted ferrocene and presented a fine work of electrochemistry demonstrating the effect of a supporting electrolyte on the redox process of these complexes (see **Chart 10**).

Figure 7 shows the CV of the tri-ferrocenylethynyl benzene and hexa-ferrocenylethynyl benzene. The top figures show the CV from the traditional electrolyte *i.e.* tetrabutyl ammonium hexafluorophosphate, while the bottom CVs resulted on changing the electrolyte to tetrabutyl ammonium tetra aryl borate. This change in the electrolyte resulted in separation of the ferricenium signals as shown in the bottom figures. Similarly, when one of the hydrogens on the Cp in the hexa-ferrocenylethynyl benzene was substituted with methyl groups, all the six CV signals could be separated.



Figure 7. CVs of complexes 72(A), 73(B) and 75(C) under [*n*-Bu₄N]PF₆ (top) and [*n*-Bu₄N]BAr₄ (bottom) electrolyte. Reprinted with permission from ref [69].



Chart 10. Chemical structures of tri- (72) and hexa-ferrocenylethynyl complexes (73-75) investigated by Diallo *et al.* [69].

3. Ferrocenylethynyls connected through a metal bridge

3.1 Ferrocene termini linked to metal bridge by covalent bond

Since the last decade intense efforts have been made to generate ferrocenylethynyls containing different metal bridging groups [70-73], or metal-containing fragments [74], in the study of electronic communication between the redox-active termini through organic [63,75] or metal-containing fragments [74].



Chart 11. General chemical structure of ferrocenylethynyls connected through ruthenium metal units.

The compounds shown in **Chart 11** are a few good examples of ferrocenylethynyls containing different metal bridging groups [74]. These are synthesized by a multi-step process and the ancillary ligand 'L' on the central metal is varied to tune the interaction between the ferrocene termini. Interestingly, it was found that the Fe-Fe interaction is enhanced when an electron donating ligand is used, and reduced when the ligand is electron withdrawing. The dependence of the electronic communication between the two ferrocene units on the ancillary ligand at the central ruthenium metal lying in conjugation to the extended ethynyl chain demonstrates the potential of the metal bridging units.

3.2 Tuning the properties by metal bridging

Besides the study of electronic communication between the redox active termini through organic spacers [63,75], efforts have also been made to generate ferrocenylethynyls containing different metal bridging groups during the last decade. In these studies, ferrocenyl pendant groups are commonly used as redox centres, and ethynylferrocene commonly serves as the key starting material. Placing equivalent redox-active groups as end-caps in molecular arrays is often used to evaluate whether intra-molecular electronic communication occurs through metal-containing fragments and clusters. They have been attached to mono-[70,72,76,77] or dinuclear [78,79], organometallic and coordination compounds. However, examples of metal clusters capped by equivalent ferrocenyl groups are rare.

3.2.1 Electro-luminescence property

The example below from Albinati *et al.* [80] shows a bis(ferrocenylethynyl) complex (**79**) where the Fc units are connected *via* a $Pt_6(\mu$ -PtBu₂)_4(CO)_4 metal cluster (**Figure 8**, top). No significant electronic communication was observed between the two terminal Fc units as shown by the unsplit redox wave at 0.3 V (**Figure 8**, bottom).

When investigated by spectro-electrochemistry, this compound, upon oxidation, gave an emission in the visible region. The emission band was carefully examined and found to be resulting from the metal cluster unit. This implies that the redox property of the ferrocenes in the molecule could be controlled by external application of visible light. It was suggested that the emission energy generated by the central metal cluster component could be utilized in three different ways as typified in **Figure 9**.

Type-D means that the metal cluster could be utilized as electron donor to the adjacent acceptor units, type-A represents the metal cluster as acceptor component which accepts electron from the adjacent units and A:D type means that the metal cluster is utilized in a way that can help the electron flow from the donor unit to the acceptor unit.



Figure 8. Crystal structure of $Pt_6(\mu-PtBu_2)_4(CO)_4(C\equiv C-Fc)_2$ (**79**) (see structure: purple Pt, red Fe, green P, blue O; Fc = $[(\eta-C_5H_5)Fe(\eta-C_5H_4)]$) (C₂Fc₂) (left) and CV and DPV (right). Reprinted with permission from ref [80]. Copyright (**2005**), Wiley-VCH.



Figure 9. Schematics of charge flow in $Pt_6(\mu-PtBu_2)_4(CO)_4(C=C-Fc)_2$ complex. Reprinted with permission from ref [80]. Copyright (**2005**), Wiley-VCH.

3.2.2 Electronic communication

Another example of metal cluster assisted efficiency enhancement is given by Xu *et al.* (see **Figure 10**) [81]. They reported that insertion of a Ru₂(DMBA) bridging unit into the 1,4-bis-(ferrocenyl)butadiyne $[(C_2Fc)_2]$ (80) dramatically enhances the electronic coupling between two Fc units in the Ru₂(DMBA)₄(C₂Fc)₂ complex (81).



Figure 10. Crystal structure of C_4Fc_2 (80) left and $Ru_2(DMBA)_4(C_2Fc)_2$ complex (81) right. Reprinted with permission from ref [81]. Copyright (2004) American Chemical Society.

Although the distance between the two termini in $\text{Ru}_2(\text{DMBA})_4(\text{C}_2\text{Fc})_2$ is significantly larger (11.60 Å) than in the bis(ferrocenyl)-1,4-butadiyne (6.63 Å), the strong electronic coupling results from the metal cluster which can act as the bridge assisting the electron flow in one direction (type-A:D as explained above). The work was further extended to explore if the metal bridge can assist the coupling when the distance between the ferrocene termini is further increased by adding ethynyl units (**Figure 11**).



Fc-(C≡C)₄-Fc: Fc-Fc 11.7 Å Fc-(C≡C)₂-Ru₂-(C≡C)₂-Fc: Fc-Fc 16.7 Å

Figure 11. Crystal structure of C_8Fc_2 (**82**) and *trans*-(FcC₄)Ru₂(Y-DMBA)₄(C₄Fc) complex (**83**); here Y-DMBA is N,N'dimethylbenzamidinate. Reprinted with permission from ref [82]. Copyright (**2005**), American Chemical Society.



Figure 12. CV and DPV of $Ru_2(DMBA)_4(C_2Fc)_2$ complex. Reprinted with permission from ref [83]. Copyright (2004), American Chemical Society.

It was observed that the metal bridge allowed efficient coupling even on increasing the distance between the ferrocene units. The CV and DPV of $Ru_2(DMBA)_4(C_2Fc)_2$ (**Figure 12**) consists of one one-electron reduction at -1.22 V (**A**) attributed to the Ru_2 core, and three one-electron oxidations (**B**–**D**) between 0.4 and 1.0 V. One of the three oxidations is Ru_2 -based because all $Ru_2(DMBA)_4(C_2R)_2$ compounds undergo oneelectron oxidation in this region [83]. The DPV peaks were assigned after confirmation from the spectroelectrochemistry results which showed the clear increase and decrease in the peaks **C** and **D** upon sequential oxidation of the terminal ferrocenes. They also examined the spectral absorption band on oxidation which further supports that peaks **C** and **D** belong to the oxidation of ferrocenyl units.

3.2.3 Redox control

Ferrocene can work as an electron reservoir, and its metal-assisted assembly is highly intriguing in terms of molecular quantum devices, as demonstrated by Long *et al.* in a cobalt complex containing four ferrocenes shown in **Figure 13** [70,84].



Figure 13. Crystal structure of $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Fe)_4(\eta^4-C_4)Co(\eta^5-C_5H_5)$ complex (**84**). Reprinted with permission from ref [70]. Copyright (**2005**), American Chemical Society.



Figure 14. CV and DPV of $(\eta^5-C_5H_5)_2Fe)_4(\eta^4-C_4)Co(\eta^5-C_5H_5)$ complex (**84**). Reprinted with permission from ref [70]. Copyright (**2005**) American Chemical Society.

Complexes containing two ferrocenes communicating with each other are considered as building blocks of quantum cellular automata, where the ferrocenes can be sequentially oxidized and reduced to conduct the signals in single molecular electronic devices. Similarly, complexes with a higher number of ferrocenes are of special interest for logic gates like applications. Long *et al.* isolated the different oxidized forms of the complex shown below. In a 1:1 mixture of CH_3CN and CH_2Cl_2 the cyclic and square wave voltammetry gave good resolution with unambiguous evidence of three redox couples as can be seen in the voltammograms (see **Figure 14**).

In addition, the unresolved structure in the peak at the most positive potential in the square wave voltammetry suggests the presence of a fourth couple. The $E_{1/2}$ potentials for the $1^0/1^{1+}$, $1^{1+}/1^{2+}$, $1^{2+}/1^{3+}$, and $1^{3+}/1^{4+}$ couples are -0.085, 0.075, 0.225, and 0.283 V, respectively ($\Delta E_p = 0.08 \pm 0.02$ V), relative to the potential for the ferrocene/ferrocenium couple [70].

3.3 Ferrocene termini linked to a metal bridge by a coordination bond

The ferrocenylethynyls containing different metal bridging groups were produced by multi-step covalent synthesis methods. These types of syntheses are labour intensive and frequently suffer from low yield of the final product. Also the final products are quite often not stable under aerobic conditions. Coordination-driven synthesis emerged as a breakthrough to overcome many of these problems associated with purely covalent synthesis methods. Rationally designed self-assembled supramolecular structures that create self-organized, functional materials are of fundamental interest for application in catalysis [85], gas storage or gas/molecule separations [86], in nanotechnology [87,88], and in electronic materials [89,90]. Organic molecules can self-assemble into well-ordered structures, but often with limited conductance. Conductivity can be influenced and improved by using coordination complexes in which metal centers are incorporated into a molecular backbone. Such structures self-assembled on insulating surfaces have been reported for highly conducting nano-ribbons [89]. Solution based rational self-assembly is a promising approach for the formation of microstructures with desired shapes [91-93].

Scientists have coupled ferrocene to coordinating ligands like pyridine, benzonitrile, etc. and utilized these ferrocenyl derivatives to construct a wide range of metal complexes. The beneficial redox property of the ferrocene is successfully exploited in designing coordination complexes with supramolecular assemblies which would be impossible by conventional covalent synthesis. The use of ferrocene containing ligands imparts redox switching, mixed-valence and offers a host of other interesting properties to the coordination complexes.

In addition, incorporation of ferrocenyl or ferricenyl building blocks offer further material tuning opportunities and access to novel mixed-valence materials [94,95]. Ferrocenyl functionalized coordination complexes are of particular interest due to the robust and switchable chemical nature of the ferrocene. Ferrocene also exhibits attractive electrochemical features: fast electron-transfer rate, low oxidation potential, and two easily accessible stable redox states (neutral ferrocene and oxidized ferricenium). Ferrocene-modified surfaces have been demonstrated to efficiently communicate *via* a lateral electron hopping process[96,97] and were recently highlighted for applications in charge storage components and in semiconductor-based memory devices with the bound ferrocene center as the memory element [98].



Figure 15. Crystal structure of tetra(ferrocenylpyrimidinyl)Ni(SCN)₂ complex (85). Reprinted with permission from ref [98]. Copyright (2003), American Chemical Society.

FERROCENYLETHYNYL - A VERSATILE PLATFORM

A good example of beneficial mono functionalization of ferrocene with a coordinating ligand and its use to obtain novel coordination complexes was given by Horikoshi *et al.* [99]. A simple ferrocenyl pyridine ligand when combined with transition metal salts, produce mixed-metal polynuclear complexes with structural diversity. Reaction of 5-ferrocenylpyrimidine with $M(SCN)_2$ (M = Ni, Co) produces the pinwheellike 4:1 complexes (Ni complex (**85**) shown in **Figure 15**). The complexes are regarded as electro-active ferrocene clusters.

Some other strategies have also been proposed to obtain coordination complexes of varied size, shape and chemical combinations. The coordination of bifunctionalised ferrocene with a pyridinyl group to the metal "nodes" was utilized by Wei *et al.* [100]. The primary structure formed by coordination bonds in cooperation with weak non-covalent interactions, such as H-bonding and π stacking, organizes these primary structures into supramolecular architectures [101]. The self-assembly of small "building blocks" with transition metal ions generates cages, capsules, macrocycles, helices, networks, and other supramolecular architectures (**Figure 16**) for research in supramolecular chemistry, materials chemistry, and crystal engineering [102-104]. Careful design and synthesis of these novel architectures are essential for the creation of new functional materials with solvent inclusion or gas-adsorption characteristics or with special optical, electronic, magnetic, and catalytic properties [105,106].



Figure 16. Chemical structure of bifunctionalised ferrocene with pyridinyl group (left) and their possible structure with metal (right). Reprinted with permission from ref [99]. Copyright (2010), American Chemical Society.

Copper(I) is well recognized for its ability to form multi-nuclear (cluster) species of various shapes and sizes, on reaction with a range of bridging and terminal ligands. In these clusters weak bonding interactions between the closed-shell metal centers are generally present [107-111]. A range of different architectures broadly categorized as A to D generating network and chain structures shown in E to H have been reported (see Figure 17). These clusters such as rhomboid (CuX)₂ dimers [111,113-115], cubane(CuX)₄ tetramers [114-116], infinite $(CuX)_{\infty}$ zigzag [117-120] or stair-step polymers [117,118] (X= halide) have been investigated by many research groups for their rich photo-physical properties. Structures with pyridine ligands in particular have been extensively studied for their extraordinary photoluminescence properties [121-130]. Several strategies for rational syntheses of complexes with four redox sites have been reported. These often require considerable synthetic effort to prepare, and can be plagued by low yields and largely amorphous final structures. When issues such as structural precision, synthetic ease and building-block versatility come into question, coordination-driven self-assembly provides a powerful alternative to the purely covalent synthesis of multifunctional molecules [125]. At the molecular level a symmetric mixed-valence complex is the building-block for the quantum-dot cellular automata [70]. Arrays with four redox sites are also considered more versatile for efficient cell designs in logic applications [85,126]. Functionalization of the Py-x to ferrocenylethynylpyridine in the $(CuX)_4(Py-x)_4$ series has allowed ready access to a series of tetraferrocenylethynylpyridinyl copper complexes (86-88) and, in the presence of triphenylphosphine coligand, gave di(ferrocenylethynylpyridinyl triphenylphosphine)copper square complexes (89-91) via coordination-driven self-assembly (see Scheme 2).



Figure 17. Different architectures obtained from Cu-halide in the presence of coordinating ligands. Reprinted with permission from ref [110]. Copyright (2012), The Royal Society of Chemistry.

The tetra(ferrocenylethynylpyridinyl) copper complexes undergo partial or full oxidation under mild electrochemical conditions and the electro-crystallized products show distinct morphologies such as dendritic for complex **86** while lettuce or flower like for complexes **87** and **88** (see Figure 18). For the electro-crystallized di(ferrocenylethynylpyridinyltriphenylphosphine) copper complexes (**89-91**), the SEM analysis confirmed the spontaneous formation of electro-crystallized full oxidation products with distinct morphology such as leaf-like for complexes **89** and **90**, and cabbage-like morphology for complex **91** (see Figure 18).



Scheme 2. Synthesis of tetra(ferrocenylethynylpyridinyl) copper halide complexes (86-88) and di(ferrocenylethynylpyridinyl triphenylphosphine) copper halide complexes (89-91).

Copper compounds are widely used as catalysts and electro-deposited Cu-based microstructures are of interest for applications in catalysis [129-132]. Furthermore, the shapes of the electro-deposited

FERROCENYLETHYNYL - A VERSATILE PLATFORM

microstructures have been shown to enhance the catalytic activity and selectivity of metallic catalysts [132]. Thus, the three types of distinct morphologies observed for the electro-crystallized products by changing the chemical composition ($X = C\Gamma$, Br, Γ) indicate the potential of the system for controlling the shape of the electro-deposited microstructures.

Recently, Noorduin *et al.* have demonstrated the potential of systematic change in the chemical composition during layer by layer growth of their crystal. They grew the crystals layer by layer to obtain novel microstructures as shown in **Figure 19**. Using this strategy they were able to generate a beautiful library of microstructures [133].

The electro-crystallized di(ferrocenylethynylpyridinyl triphenylphosphine)copper complexes were found to be dimeric dicationic products of the parent neutral complexes. These electro-crystallized ferrocenylethynyl materials could be a new entry to the family of ferroelectric materials [134-136]. The different shapes obtained by changing the chemical composition and stoichiometry present an approach to controlling the morphologies of the electro-deposited Cu-based microstructure, and are of high recent interest for fundamental studies and for potential applications in catalysis and other fields [129-132]. The ferrocenylethynyls have thus shown that they have enormous potential for further functionalization and hold promise for generating novel materials for scientific and technological development.



Figure 18. SEM images of electro-crystallized products from oxidation of complexes 86-91 (A-F). 86-88 Reprinted with permission from ref [127] and 89-91 from ref [128].





4. Present outlook and Future directions

Ferrocenylethynyl has been used widely as a platform for developing new materials, which have been investigated extensively over the past decade. This has allowed a thorough understanding of the structure-activity-function relationships of materials of this type, giving the inspiration to develop more advanced

HAKIKULLA H. SHAH ET AL

materials for practical applications in the near future. While ferrocenyls are recognized redox-active molecules, examples presented in this review highlight the rich diversity of ferrocenylethynyl-based molecules and materials for numerous emerging applications. Connecting ferrocenylethynyl units to organic and inorganic structures provides a versatile approach for constructing new materials with novel properties.

The four types of connection of ferrocenylethynyl with diverse organic structures presented in this review have led to new catalyst systems, materials for sensors, pharmaceuticals, anti-cancer reagents, and precursor molecules for further coordination to metals and redox active complexes. A host of other molecules using the four types of connection could be synthesized which would be of interest to the new materials industries. Specifically, incorporation of photo- and thermally-active spacers such as azobenzenes in the bis(ferrocenylethynyl) complexes should prove very interesting as the azobenzene has the inherent property of switching between *cis*- and *trans*-conformation under the influence of an external applied field, leading to dual control over the new materials. Another novel approach presented here is the connection of ferrocenylethynyls to metal frames covalently and via coordination. The ferrocenyl units covalently connected to metal frames have shown improved conductivity and enhanced intra-molecular communication. Examples by Lu et al. have demonstrated an improvement in conductivity of the oligo-ynes on incorporation of ferrocene units. The coordination of functionalized ferrocenylethynyls have been shown to give electro-active clusters as demonstrated by Horikoshi et al. Shah et al. have recently shown that the new di- and tetraferrocenylethynylpyridinyl copper(I) halide complexes are conveniently accessible by coordination-driven self-assembly, and fascinating new materials have been produced by charge-driven electro-crystallization. These polynuclear complexes oxidize under mild conditions to form partially- or fully-oxidized electrocrystallized products. The inherent structural features based on the aromatic ring system and ethyne as well as metal cluster components potentially provide high electron-mobility, and therefore these crystalline materials with partially and fully occupied ferrocene electronic band structure will be of interest in future electronic materials and in optical components. The incorporation of PF_6^- into the structure can be considered as a "structurally well-defined" doping with implications for photo-excitation and electronic conductivity [137,138]. Furthermore, a combination of mobile electrons and structural rearrangements, which are possible in these novel materials, provides an entry into a new class of multi-ferroelectronics [134,139].

5. Acknowledgements

The literature survey leading to this review paper was conducted with funding from the Research Council of Oman under the Open Research Grant Program: ORG/SQU/EI/13/015. MSK acknowledges Sultan Qaboos University for a Research Grant: IG/SCI/CHEM/13/01 and for a research leave while HHS and RAAI-B acknowledge Sultan Qaboos University, Oman for PhD scholarships.

References

- 1. Shah, H.H., Al-Balushi, R.A., Al-Suti, M.K., Khan, M.S., Woodall, C.H., Molloy, K.C., Raithby, P.R., Robinson, T.P., Dale, S.E.C. and Marken, F. Long-range intramolecular electronic communication in bis(ferrocenylethynyl) complexes incorporating conjugated heterocyclic spacers: synthesis, crystallography, and electrochemistry. *Inorg. Chem.*, 2013, **52**(9), 4898-4908.
- Speck, J.M., Claus, R., Hildebrandt, A., Rüffer, T., Erasmus, E., van As, L., Swarts, J.C. and Lang, H. Electron transfer studies on ferrocenylthiophenes: synthesis, properties, and electrochemistry. *Organomet.*, 2012, **31**(17), 6373-6380.
- 3. Boulas, P.L., Gómez-Kaifer, M. and Echegoyen, L. Electrochemistry of supramolecular systems. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 1998, **37(3)**, 216-247.
- 4. Westwood, J., Coles, S.J., Collinson, S.R., Gasser, G., Green, S.J., Hursthouse, M.B., Light, M.E. and Tucker, J.H. Binding and electrochemical recognition of barbiturate and urea derivatives by a regioisomeric series of hydrogen-bonding ferrocene receptors. *Organomet.*, 2004, **23**(5), 946-951.
- 5. Turner, A., Karube, I. and Wilson, G. *Biosensors: Fundamentals and applications*, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 198, p770.
- 6. Barlow, S. and Marder, S.R. Electronic and optical properties of conjugated group 8 metallocene derivatives. *Chem. Commun.*, 2000, **17**, 1555-1562.

- 7. Yamamoto, T., Morikita, T., Maruyama, T., Kubota, K. and Katada, M. Poly(aryleneethynylene) type polymers containing a ferrocene unit in the π -conjugated main chain. Preparation, optical properties, redox behavior, and Mössbauer spectroscopic analysis. *Macromol.*, 1997, **30(18)**, 5390-5396.
- 8. Wei, H., Quan, C.-Y., Chang, C., Zhang, X.-Z. and Zhuo, R.-X. Preparation of novel ferrocene-based shell cross-linked thermoresponsive hybrid micelles with antitumor efficacy. *J. Phys. Chem. B.*, 2010, **114(16)**, 5309-5314.
- 9. Wu, C., Ye, H., Bai, W., Li, Q., Guo, D., Lv, G., Yan, H. and Wang, X. New potential anticancer agent of carborane derivatives, selective cellular interaction and activity of ferrocene-substituted dithio-o-carborane conjugates. *Bioconjugate Chem.*, 2010, **22**(1), 16-25.
- 10. Emel'yanov, V., Simonenko, L. and Skvortsov, V. Ferrocene a nontoxic antiknock agent for automotive gasolines. *Chem. and Tech. of Fuels and Oils.*, 2001, **37**(**4**), 224-228.
- 11. Herrmann, W.A. *Ferrocene as a gasoline and fuel additive: Applied Homogeneous Catalysis with Organometallic Compounds* (2nd Ed.), Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH, Germany, 2002, 586-590.
- 12. Atkinson, R.C., Gibson, V.C. and Long, N.J. The syntheses and catalytic applications of unsymmetrical ferrocene ligands. *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2004, **33**(5), 313-328.
- 13. Rulkens, R., Lough, A.J., Manners, I., Lovelace, S.R., Grant, C. and Geiger, W.E. Linear oligo (ferrocenyldimethylsilanes) with between two and nine ferrocene units, Electrochemical and structural models for poly(ferrocenylsilane) high polymers. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1996, **118(50)**, 12683-12695.
- 14. Gagnon-Thibault, É., Cossement, D., Guillet-Nicolas, R., Masoumifard, N., Bénard, P., Kleitz, F., Chahine, R. and Morin, J.-F. Nanoporous ferrocene-based cross-linked polymers and their hydrogen sorption properties. *Microporous and Mesoporous Mater.*, 2014, **188**, 182-189.
- 15. Nguyen, P., Gómez-Elipe, P. and Manners, I. Organometallic polymers with transition metals in the main chain. *Chem. Rev.*, 1999, **99(6)**, 1515-1548.
- 16. Manners, I. Ring-opening polymerization of metallocenophanes, A new route to transition metalbased polymers. *Adv. Organomet. Chem.*, 1995, **37**, 131-168.
- 17. Abd-El-Aziz, A.S. and Todd, E.K. Organoiron polymers. Coord. Chem. Rev., 2003, 246(1), 3-52.
- 18. Zhao, H.-Y., Guo, L., Chen, S.-F. and Bian, Z.-X. Synthesis, electrochemistry and liquid crystal properties of 1,2,3-(nh)-triazolylferrocene derivatives. *J. Mol. Struct.*, 2013, **1054**, 164-169.
- 19. Navale, D.N., Zote, S.W. and Ramana, M. Synthesis of ferrocene derivatives exhibiting low-temperature mesomorphism. *Liq. Cryst.*, 2013, **40**(10), 1333-1338.
- Apreutesei, D., Lisa, G., Scutaru, D. and Hurduc, N. Investigations on thermal stability of some ferrocene liquid crystals bearing azo:ferrocenyl and cholesteryl units. J. Optoelectronics Adv. Mater., 2006, 8(2), 737-740.
- Aly, M., Bramley, R., Upadhyay, J., Wassermann, A. and Woolliams, P. Paramagnetic ferrocene acid adducts. Kinetics of electron transfer to proton acids. *Chem. Commun.*, 1965, 17, 404-406.
- Ilyakina, E.V., Poddel'sky, A.I., Fukin, G.K., Bogomyakov, A.S., Cherkasov, V.K. and Abakumov, G.A. Ferrocene-o-benzosemiquinonato tin(IV) electron-transfer complexes. *Inorg. Chem.*, 2013, 52(9), 5284-5289.
- 23. Van Staveren, D.R. and Metzler-Nolte, N. Bioorganometallic chemistry of ferrocene. *Chem. Rev.*, 2004, **104(12)**, 5931-5986.
- 24. Bertogg, A. and Togni, A. A novel chiral ferrocene-based amidine/amidinato ligand and its rhodium complexes. *Organomet.*, 2005, **25(3)**, 622-630.
- 25. Gischig, S. and Togni, A. Synthesis and coordination chemistry of a new chiral tridentate pcp nheterocyclic carbene ligand based on a ferrocene backbone. *Organomet.*, 2004, **23**(10), 2479-2487.
- 26. Colacot, T.J. A concise update on the applications of chiral ferrocenyl phosphines in homogeneous catalysis leading to organic synthesis. *Chem. Rev.* 2003, **103**(8), 3101-3118.
- 27. Barbaro, P., Bianchini, C., Giambastiani, G. and Parisel, S.L. Progress in stereoselective catalysis by metal complexes with chiral ferrocenyl phosphines. *Coord. Chem. Rev.*, 2004, **248**(21), 2131-2150.
- Elbert, J., Gallei, M., Rüttiger, C., Brunsen, A., Didzoleit, H., Stühn, B. and Rehahn, M. Ferrocene polymers for switchable surface wettability. *Organomet.*, 2013, 32(20), 5873-5878.
- 29. Kadkin, O.N. and Galyametdinov, Y.G. Ferrocene-containing liquid crystals. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, 2012, **81**(8), 675-699.

HAKIKULLA H. SHAH ET AL

- 30. Lavastre, O., Plass, J., Bachmann, P., Guesmi, S., Moinet, C. and Dixneuf, P.H. Ruthenium or ferrocenyl homobimetallic and rupdru and fepdfe heterotrimetallic complexes connected by unsaturated, carbon-rich -C≡CC₆H₄C≡C- bridges. *Organomet.*, 1997, **16**(**2**), 184-189.
- 31. Lin, J.T., Sun, S.-S., Wu, J.J., Lee, L., Lin, K.-J. and Huang, Y.F. Dinuclear metal carbonyls bridged by pyridyl ligands incorporating an alkyne entity. *Inorg. Chem.*, 1995, **34**(9), 2323-2333.
- 32. Carollo, L. and Floris, B. Metallation of alkynes, Part 10. Acetoxymercuration of arylferrocenylethynes. J. Organomet. Chem., 1999, **583(1)**, 80-85.
- Rausch, M., Siegel, A. and Klemann, L. A facile route to ferrocenyl and 2-thienylarylacetylenes 1a. J. Org. Chem., 1966, 31(8), 2703-2704.
- 34. Lin, J.T., Wu, J.J., Li, C.-S., Wen, Y.S. and Lin, K.-J. Conjugated pyridines with an end-capping ferrocene. *Organomet.*, 1996, **15(23)**, 5028-5034.
- 35. Chawdhury, N., Long, N.J., Mahon, M.F., Ooi, L.-l., Raithby, P.R., Rooke, S., White, A.J.P., Williams, D.J. and Younus, M. Synthesis and characterisation of aromatic ethynyl-bridged ferrocenes. *J. Organomet. Chem.*, 2004, **689**(4), 840-847.
- 36. Muthiah, C., Kumar, K.P., Mani, C.A. and Kumara Swamy, K. Chlorophosphonates, inexpensive precursors for stereodefined chloro-substituted olefins and unsymmetrical disubstituted acetylenes. *J. Org. Chem.*, 2000, **65**(12), 3733-3737.
- Torres, J.C., Pilli, R.A., Vargas, M.D., Violante, F.A., Garden, S.J. and Pinto, A.C. Synthesis of 1ferrocenyl-2-aryl(heteroaryl)acetylenes and 2-ferrocenylindole derivatives *via* the Sonogashira– Heck–Cassar reaction. *Tetrahedron.*, 2002, 58(22), 4487-4492.
- Sun, S.-S., Tran, D.T., Odongo, O.S. and Lees, A.J. Photophysical and photochemical properties of W(0) and Re(I) carbonyl complexes incorporating ferrocenyl-substituted pyridine ligands. *Inorg. Chem.*, 2001, 41(1), 132-135.
- Köcher, S. and Lang, H. 4-Ethynyl-benzonitrile-ferrocenes bridged by a Pd(PPh₃)₂ unit, the solid-state structure of (η⁵-C₅H₅)Fe(η⁵-C₅H₄C≡CC₆H₄C≡N-1,4). J. Organomet. Chem., 2001, 637–639, 198-203.
- 40. Wong, W.Y., Lu, G.L., Ng, K.F., Choi, K.H. and Lin, Z. Synthesis, structures and properties of platinum(II) complexes of oligothiophene-functionalized ferrocenylacetylene. *J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans.*, 2001, **22**, 3250-3260.
- 41. Zhu, Y. and Wolf, M.O. Charge transfer and delocalization in conjugated (ferrocenylethynyl)oligothiophene complexes. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2000, **122(41)**, 10121-10125.
- 42. Wong, W.-Y., Ho, K.-Y., Ho, S.-L. and Lin, Z. Carbon-rich organometallic materials derived from 4-ethynylphenylferrocene. *J. Organomet. Chem.*, 2003, **683**(2), 341-353.
- 43. Hendrickx, E., Persoons, A., Samson, S. and Stephenson, G.R. Nonlinear optical properties in bimetallic monocation *π*-complexes of iron. *J. Organomet. Chem.*, 1997, **542(2)**, 295-297.
- 44. Hedberg, F.L. and Rosenberg, H., Synthesis of 1,1'-biferrocenylene. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1969, **91(5)**, 1258-1259.
- 45. Rosenblum, M., Brawn, N.M., Ciappenelli, D. and Tancrede, J. Synthesis of [2.2]ferrocenophane-1,13-diyne. J. Organomet. Chem., 1970, 24(2), 469-477.
- 46. Levanda, C., Bechgaard, K. and Cowan, D.O. Mixed valence cations. Chemistry of π -bridged analogues of biferrocene and biferrocenylene. J. Org. Chem., 1976, **41**(16), 2700-2704.
- 47. Cowan, D.O. and Levanda, C. Organic solid state. X. 1,1'-Biferrocenylene[Fe(II)Fe(III)]salts. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1972, 94(26), 9271-9272.
- Ingham, S.L., Khan, M.S., Lewis, J., Long, N.J. and Raithby, P.R., Synthesis and characterisation of monomeric, dimeric and polymeric ferrocenylacetylides. Crystal structure of 1,1'bis(phenylethynyl)ferrocene. J. Organomet. Chem., 1994, 470(1–2), 153-159.
- 49. Plenio, H., Hermann, J. and Sehring, A. Optically and redox-active ferroceneacetylene polymers and oligomers. *Chem. Eur. J.*, 2000, **6**(10), 1820-1829.
- 50. Lu, Q., Yao, C., Wang, X. and Wang, F. Enhancing molecular conductance of oligo(*p*-phenylene ethynylene)s by incorporating ferrocene into their backbones. *J. Phys. Chem. C.*, 2012, **116(33)**, 17853-17861.
- 51. Long, N.J. *Metallocenes: An introduction to sandwich complexes*, Blackwell Science Oxford, UK, 1998.

- 52. Peris, E. From long-chain conjugated oligomers to dendrimers, Synthesis and physical properties of phenyl-ethenyl-ferrocenyl containing one-and two-dimensional complexes. *Coord. Chem. Rev.*, 2004, **248**(3), 279-297.
- 53. Wong, W.-Y., Lu, G.-L., Choi, K.-H. and Guo, Y.-H. Carbon-rich organometallics, Synthesis and characterization of new ferrocenyl end-capped bis(butadiynyl) fluorene derivatives. *J. Organomet. Chem.*, 2005, **690(1)**, 177-186.
- 54. McGale, E.M., Robinson, B.H. and Simpson, J. Ethynyl and ethenyl ferrocenyl dyads with acridine, acridone, and anthraquinone. *Organomet.*, 2003, **22**(5), 931-939.
- Yuan, Y.-F., Cardinaels, T., Lunstroot, K., Van Hecke, K., Van Meervelt, L., Görller-Walrand, C., Binnemans, K. and Nockemann, P. Rare-earth complexes of ferrocene-containing ligands, visiblelight excitable luminescent materials. *Inorg. Chem.*, 2007, 46(13), 5302-5309.
- 56. Mercs, L., Neels, A. and Albrecht, M. Probing the potential of n-heterocyclic carbenes in molecular electronics, redox-active metal centers interlinked by a rigid ditopic carbene ligand. *Dalton Trans.*, 2008, **41**, 5570-5576.
- 57. Reddinger, J.L. and Reynolds, J.R. Tunable redox and optical properties using transition metalcomplexed polythiophenes. *Macromol.*, 1997, **30**, 673.
- 58. Plenio, H., Hermann, J. and Sehring, A. Optically and redox-active ferroceneacetylene polymers and oligomers. *Chem. Eur. J.*, 2000, **6(10)**, 1820.
- 59. Robin, M.B. and Day, P. Mixed valence chemistry a survey and classification. *Adv. Inorg. chem.*, 1968, **10**, 247-422.
- Solntsev, P.V., Dudkin, S.V., Sabin, J.R. and Nemykin, V.N. Electronic communications in (z)bis(ferrocenyl)ethylenes with electron-withdrawing substituents. *Organomet.*, 2011, 30(11), 3037-3046.
- 61. Chen, Y.J., Pan, D.S., Chiu, C.F., Su, J.X., Lin, S.J. and Kwan, K.S. Metal-metal interactions in weakly coupled mixed-valence e-and z-diferrocenylethylene complexes. *Inorg. Chem.*, 2000, **39**(5), 953-958.
- Chung, M.-C., Gu, X., Etzenhouser, B.A., Spuches, A.M., Rye, P.T., Seetharaman, S.K., Rose, D.J., Zubieta, J. and Sponsler, M.B. Intermetal coupling in [(η⁵-C₅R₅)Fe(dppe)]₂(μ-CHCHCHCH) and in their dicationic and monocationic mixed-valence forms. *Organomet.*, 2003, 22(17), 3485-3494.
- 63. Patoux, C., Coudret, C., Launay, J.-P., Joachim, C. and Gourdon, A. Topological effects on intramolecular electron transfer *via* quantum interference. *Inorg. Chem.*, 1997, **36(22)**, 5037-5049.
- 64. Levanda, C., Bechgaard, K. and Cowan, D.O. Mixed valence cations. Chemistry of π -bridged analogues of biferrocene and biferrocenylene. J. Org. Chem., 1976, **41(16)**, 2700.
- 65. Xu, G.-L., Xi, B., Updegraff, J.B., Protasiewicz, J.D. and Ren, T. 1,6-Bis(ferrocenyl)-1,3,5hexatriyne, novel preparation and structural study. *Organomet.*, 2006, **25**(**22**), 5213-5215.
- 66. Ribou, A.C., Launay, J.P., Sachtleben, M.L., Li, H. and Spangler, C.W., Intervalence electron transfer in mixed-valence diferrocenylpolyenes. Decay law of the metal-metal coupling with distance. *Inorg. Chem.*, 1996, **35**(13), 3735-3740.
- 67. Gautam, P., Dhokale, B., Mobin, S.M. and Misra, R. Ferrocenyl bodipys: synthesis, structure and properties. *RSC Adv.*, 2012, **2**(32), 12105-12107.
- 68. Fink, H., Long, N.J., Martin, A.J., Opromolla, G., White, A.J.P., Williams, D.J. and Zanello, P. Ethynylferrocene compounds of 1,3,5-tribromobenzene. *Organomet.*, 1997,**16**(**12**), 2646-2650.
- 69. Diallo, A.K., Daran, J.-C., Varret, F., Ruiz, J. and Astruc, D. How do redox groups behave around a rigid molecular platform? Hexa(ferrocenylethynyl)benzenes and their "electrostatic" redox chemistry. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 2009, **48**(**17**), 3141-3145.
- Jiao, J., Long, G.J., Rebbouh, L., Grandjean, F., Beatty, A.M. and Fehlner, T.P., Properties of a mixed-valence (FeII)₂(FeIII)₂ square cell for utilization in the quantum cellular automata paradigm for molecular electronics. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 2005, **127(50)**, 17819-17831.
- 71. Tanabe, M., Horie, M. and Osakada, K. Preparation, structures, and electrochemical properties of silaplatinacyclohexadienes with ferrocenyl pendant groups. *Organomet.*, 2003, **22(2)**, 373-376.
- 72. Wong, W.Y., Ho, K.Y. and Choi, K.H. New ferrocenyl heterometallic complexes of 2,7-diethynylfluoren-9-one. J. Organomet. Chem., 2003, 670(1–2), 17-26.
- 73. Siemeling, U., Vor der Brüggen, J., Vorfeld, U., Neumann, B., Stammler, A., Stammler, H.G., Brockhinke, A., Plessow, R., Zanello, P. and Laschi, F. Ferrocenyl-functionalised terpyridines and

their transition-metal complexes, Syntheses, structures and spectroscopic and electrochemical properties. *Chem. Eur. J.*, 2003, **9(12)**, 2819-2833.

- 74. Zhu, Y., Clot, O., Wolf, M.O. and Yap, G.P.A. Effect of ancillary ligands on Ru(II) on electronic delocalization in ruthenium(II) bisferrocenylacetylide complexes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 1998, **120(8)**, 1812-1821.
- 75. Tárraga, A., Molina, P., Curiel, D. and Velasco, M.D. Homotrimetallic oxazolo-ferrocene complexes displaying tunable cooperative interactions between metal centers and redox-switchable character. *Organomet.*, 2001, **20**(**11**), 2145-2152.
- 76. Bucher, C., Moutet, J.-C., Pécaut, J., Royal, G., Saint-Aman, E., Thomas, F., Torelli, S. and Ungureanu, M. Thermically and electrochemically induced isomerization of a (bis(ferrocene)-cyclam) copper(II) complex. *Inorg. Chem.*, 2003, **42**(7), 2242-2252.
- 77. Zanello, P., Togni, A. and Hayashi, T. Ferrocenes, homogeneous catalysis. Org. Synth. Mater. Sci., 1995, 317-430.
- 78. Champeil, E. and Draper, S.M. Ferrocenylalkynes as ligands in transition metal complexes. *J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans.*, 2001, **9**, 1440-1447.
- 79. Yip, J.H., Wu, J., Wong, K.-Y., Ho, K.P., So-Ngan Pun, C. and Vittal, J.J. Electronic communication mediated by a PtI-PtI σ-bond. *Organomet.*, 2002, **21**(24), 5292-5300.
- Albinati, A., Fabrizi de Biani, F., Leoni, P., Marchetti, L., Pasquali, M., Rizzato, S. and Zanello, P. Redox control of light-induced platinum-cluster-to-iron charge transfer in a bis(ferrocenylethynyl)substituted hexanuclear platinum derivative. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 2005, 44(35), 5701-5705.
- 81. Xu, G.-L., DeRosa, M.C., Crutchley, R.J. and Ren, T. *Trans*-bis(alkynyl) diruthenium(III) tetra(amidinate), an effective facilitator of electronic delocalization. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 2004, **126(12)**, 3728-3729.
- 82. Xu, G.-L., Crutchley, R.J., DeRosa, M.C., Pan, Q.-J., Zhang, H.-X., Wang, X. and Ren, T. Strong electronic couplings between ferrocenyl centers mediated by bis-ethynyl/butadiynyl diruthenium bridges. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2005, **127(38)**, 13354-13363.
- Xu, G.-L., Jablonski, C.G. and Ren, T. Further studies of tetrakis(N,N'dialkylbenzamidinato)diruthenium(III) chloro and alkynyl compounds, molecular engineering of metallayne monomers. J. Organomet. Chem., 2003, 683(2), 388-397.
- 84. Jiao, J., Long, G.J., Grandjean, F., Beatty, A.M. and Fehlner, T.P. Building blocks for the molecular expression of quantum cellular automata. Isolation and characterization of a covalently bonded square array of two ferrocenium and two ferrocene complexes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 2003, **125**(25), 7522-7523.
- 85. Givaja, G., Amo-Ochoa, P., Gomez-Garcia, C.J. and Zamora, F. Electrical conductive coordination polymers. *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2012, **41**(1), 115-147.
- Tanaka, D., Nakagawa, K., Higuchi, M., Horike, S., Kubota, Y., Kobayashi, T.C., Takata, M. and Kitagawa, S. Kinetic gate-opening process in a flexible porous coordination polymer. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 2008, 47(21), 3914-3918.
- 87. Ariga, K., Ito, H., Hill, J.P. and Tsukube, H. Molecular recognition, from solution science to nano/materials technology. *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2012, **41(17)**, 5800-5835.
- 88. Welte, L., Calzolari, A., Di Felice, R., Zamora, F. and Gomez-Herrero, J. Highly conductive selfassembled nanoribbons of coordination polymers. *Nat. Nano*, 2010, **5**(2), 110-115.
- 89. Schenning, A.P.H.J. and Meijer, E.W., Supramolecular electronics, nanowires from self-assembled π -conjugated systems. *Chem. Commun.*, 2005, **0**(26), 3245-3258.
- 90. Kang, J., Nelson, J.A., Lu, M., Xie, B., Peng, Z. and Powell, D.R. Charge-transfer hybrids containing covalently bonded polyoxometalates and ferrocenyl units. *Inorg. Chem.*, 2004, **43**(**20**), 6408-6413.
- 91. Lewis, J.E.M., John McAdam, C., Gardiner, M.G. and Crowley, J.D. A facile "click" approach to functionalised metallosupramolecular architectures. *Chem. Commun.*, 2013, **49(33)**, 3398-3400.
- 92. Rupar, P.A., Chabanne, L., Winnik, M.A. and Manners, I. Non-centrosymmetric cylindrical micelles by unidirectional growth. *Science*, 2012, **337(6094)**, 559-562.
- 93. Ward, M.D. and Raithby, P.R., Functional behaviour from controlled self-assembly, challenges and prospects. *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2013, **42**(**4**), 1619-1636.
- 94. Diallo, A.K., Absalon, C., Ruiz, J. and Astruc, D. Ferrocenyl-terminated redox stars, synthesis and electrostatic effects in mixed-valence stabilization. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2010, **133(3)**, 629-641.

- 95. Wu, S.H., Shen, J.J., Yao, J. and Zhong, Y.W. Asymmetric mixed-valence complexes that consist of cyclometalated ruthenium and ferrocene. Synthesis, characterization, and electronic-coupling studies. *Chem. An Asian J.*, 2013, **8**(1), 138-147.
- 96. Hsu, S.-H., Reinhoudt, D.N., Huskens, J. and Velders, A.H. Lateral interactions at functional monolayers. *J. Mater. Chem.*, 2011, **21(8)**, 2428-2444.
- 97. Eyley, S., Shariki, S., Dale, S.E., Bending, S., Marken, F. and Thielemans, W. Ferrocene-decorated nanocrystalline cellulose with charge carrier mobility. *Langmuir*, 2012, **28**(**16**), 6514-6519.
- 98. Fabre, B. Ferrocene-terminated monolayers covalently bound to hydrogen-terminated silicon surfaces. Toward the development of charge storage and communication devices. *Acc. Chem. Res.*, 2010, **43(12)**, 1509-1518.
- 99. Horikoshi, R., Nambu, C. and Mochida, T. Metal-centered ferrocene clusters from 5-ferrocenylpyrimidine and ferrocenylpyrazine. *Inorg. Chem.*, 2003, **42**(21), 6868-6875.
- 100. Wei, K.-J., Ni, J. and Liu, Y. Heterobimetallic metal-complex assemblies constructed from the flexible arm-like ligand 1,1'-bis[(3-pyridylamino)carbonyl]ferrocene, structural versatility in the solid state. *Inorg. Chem.*, 2010, **49(4)**, 1834-1848.
- 101. Wu, G., Wang, X.F., Okamura, T.A., Sun, W.-Y. and Ueyama, N. Syntheses, structures, and photoluminescence properties of metal(II) halide complexes with pyridine-containing flexible tripodal ligands. *Inorg. Chem.*, 2006, **45**(**21**), 8523-8532.
- Zangrando, E., Casanova, M. and Alessio, E. Trinuclear metallacycles, metallatriangles and much more. *Chem. Rev.*, 2008, **108**(12), 4979-5013.
- Hess, C.R., Weyhermüller, T., Bill, E. and Wieghardt, K. [{Fe(tim)}₂], An Fe-Fe dimer containing an unsupported metal-metal bond and redox-active N₄ macrocyclic ligands. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 2009, 48(20), 3703-3706.
- Kumar, A., Sun, S.-S. and Lees, A.J. Directed assembly metallocyclic supramolecular systems for molecular recognition and chemical sensing. *Coord. Chem. Rev.*, 2008, 252(8–9), 922-939.
- 105. Sadakiyo, M., Yamada, T. and Kitagawa, H. Rational designs for highly proton-conductive metalorganic frameworks. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2009, **131(29)**, 9906-9907.
- 106. Yamada, T. and Kitagawa, H. Protection and deprotection approach for the introduction of functional groups into metal-organic frameworks. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 2009, **131**(18), 6312-6313.
- 107. Angamuthu, R., Byers, P., Lutz, M., Spek, A.L. and Bouwman, E. Electrocatalytic CO₂ conversion to oxalate by a copper complex. *Science*, 2010, **327**(**5963**), 313-315.
- Perruchas, S., Desboeufs, N., Maron, S., Le Goff, X.F., Fargues, A., Garcia, A., Gacoin, T. and Boilot, J.-P. Siloxanol-functionalized copper iodide cluster as a thermochromic luminescent building block. *Inorg. Chem.*, 2011, **51**(2), 794-798.
- Perruchas, S., Goff, X.F.L., Maron, S., Maurin, I., Guillen, F., Garcia, A., Gacoin, T. and Boilot, J.-P. Mechanochromic and thermochromic luminescence of a copper iodide cluster. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 2010, **132**(32), 10967-10969.
- 110. Safko, J.P., Kuperstock, J.E., McCullough, S.M., Noviello, A.M., Li, X., Killarney, J.P., Murphy, C., Patterson, H.H., Bayse, C.A. and Pike, R.D. Network formation and photoluminescence in copper(I) halide complexes with substituted piperazine ligands. *Dalton Trans.*, 2012, **41(38)**, 11663-11674.
- 111. Igawa, S., Hashimoto, M., Kawata, I., Yashima, M., Hoshino, M. and Osawa, M. Highly efficient green organic light-emitting diodes containing luminescent tetrahedral copper(I) complexes. J. Mater. Chem. C, 2013, 1(3), 542-551.
- 112. Braga, D., Grepioni, F., Maini, L., Mazzeo, P.P. and Ventura, B. Solid-state reactivity of copper(I) iodide, luminescent 2d-coordination polymers of CuI with saturated bidentate nitrogen bases. *New J. Chem.*, 2011, **35(2)**, 339-344.
- 113. Pike, R.D., Reinecke, B.A., Dellinger, M.E., Wiles, A.B., Harper, J.D., Cole, J.R., Dendramis, K.A., Borne, B.D., Harris, J.L. and Pennington, W.T. Bicyclic phosphite esters from pentaerythritol and dipentaerythritol. New bridging ligands in organometallic and inorganic chemistry. *Organomet.*, 2004, **23**(9), 1986-1990.
- 114. Kim, T.H., Shin, Y.W., Lee, S.S. and Kim, J. Supramolecular assembly of one-dimensional channels and two-dimensional brick-wall networks from asymmetric dithioether ligands and copper(I) iodide. *Inorg. Chem. Commun.*, 2007,**10**(1), 11-14.

- 115. Kim, T.H., Shin, Y.W., Jung, J.H., Kim, J.S. and Kim, J. Crystal-to-crystal transformation between three CuI coordination polymers and structural evidence for luminescence thermochromism. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 2008, **47(4)**, 685-688.
- 116. Perruchas, S., Tard, C., Le Goff, X.F., Fargues, A., Garcia, A., Kahlal, S., Saillard, J.-Y., Gacoin, T. and Boilot, J.P. Thermochromic luminescence of copper iodide clusters, the case of phosphine ligands. *Inorg. Chem.*, 2011, **50**(**21**), 10682-10692.
- 117. Jess, I. and Näther, C., Investigations on the synthesis, structures, and properties of new copper(I) 2,3-dimethylpyrazine coordination compounds. *Inorg. Chem.*, 2006, **45(18)**, 7446-7454.
- 118. Näther, C. and Jess, I. Synthesis, crystal structures, and thermal and thermodynamic properties of dimorphic copper(I) coordination polymers. *Inorg. Chem.*, 2003, **42(9)**, 2968-2976.
- 119. Graham, P.M., Pike, R.D., Sabat, M., Bailey, R.D. and Pennington, W.T. Coordination polymers of copper(I) halides. *Inorg. Chem.*, 2000, **39**(22), 5121-5132.
- 120. Näther, C. and Jeβ, I. Synthesis, crystal structures and thermal properties of new copper(I)halide 2ethylpyrazine coordination polymers. The influence of solid-state kinetics on product formation. *J. Solid State Chem.*, 2002, **169**(**1**), 103-112.
- 121. Kyle, K.R., Ryu, C.K., Ford, P.C. and DiBenedetto, J.A. Photophysical studies in solution of the tetranuclear copper(I) clusters $Cu_4L_4l_4$ (L = pyridine or substituted pyridine). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1991, **113(8)**, 2954-2965.
- Kyle, K.R. and Ford, P.C. Dynamic quenching of the metal-to-ligand charge-transfer excited state of Cu₄I₄(pyridine)₄. Exciplex formation and self-quenching. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 1989, **111(13)**, 5005-5006.
- 123. Rath, N.P., Maxwell, J.L. and Holt, E.M. Fluorescent copper(I) complexes, An x-ray diffraction study of complexes of copper(I) iodide and pyridine derivatives of rhombic, [Cu₂I₂(3Me-py)₄], and polymeric structure, [{Cul(2Me-py)}_∞] and [{Cul(2,4-Me₂-py)}_∞]. *J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans.*, 1986, **11**, 2449-2453.
- 124. Raston, C.L. and White, A.H. Crystal structure of the copper(I) iodide-pyridine (1/1) tetramer. J. *Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans.*, 1976, **21**, 2153-2156.
- 125. Ghosh, K., Hu, J., White, H.S. and Stang, P.J. Construction of multifunctional cuboctahedra *via* coordination-driven self-assembly. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 2009,**131**(**19**), 6695-6697.
- 126. Lent, C.S., Tougaw, P.D., Porod, W. and Bernstein, G.H., Quantum cellular automata. *Nanotech.*, 1993, **4**(1), 49-57.
- 127. Shah, H.H., Al-Balushi, R.A., Al-Suti, M.K., Khan, M.S., Woodall, C.H., Sudlow, A.L., Raithby, P.R., Kociok-Köhn, G., Molloy, K.C. and Marken, F., New multi-ferrocenyl- and multi-ferricenylmaterials *via* coordination-driven self-assembly and *via* charge-driven electro-crystallization. *Inorg. Chem.*, 2013, **52**(**20**), 12012-12022.
- Shah, H.H., Al-Balushi, R.A., Al-Suti, M.K., Khan, M.S., Marken, F., Sudlow, A.L., Kociok-Köhn, G., Woodall, C.H., Raithby, P.R., Molloy, K.C. New di-ferrocenyl-ethynylpyridinyl triphenylphosphine copper halide complexes and related di-ferricenyl electro-crystallized materials. *Dalton Trans.*, 2014, 43(25), 9497-9507.
- 129. Qiu, R., Zhang, X.L., Qiao, R., Li, Y., Kim, Y.I. and Kang, Y.S. CuNi dendritic material, synthesis, mechanism discussion, and application as glucose sensor. *Chem. Mat.*, 2007, **19**(17), 4174-4180.
- 130. Shin, H.C. and Liu, M. Three-dimensional porous copper-tin alloy electrodes for rechargeable lithium batteries. *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, 2005, **15**(4), 582-586.
- Siegfried, M.J. and Choi, K.-S. Elucidation of an overpotential-limited branching phenomenon observed during the electrocrystallization of cuprous oxide. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 2008, 47(2), 368-372.
- 132. Choo, H., He, B., Liew, K.Y., Liu, H. and Li, J. Morphology and control of Pd nanoparticles. J. Mol. *Catal. A, Chem.*, 2006, **244(1–2)**, 217-228.
- 133. Noorduin, W.L., Grinthal, A., Mahadevan, L. and Aizenberg, J. Rationally designed complex, hierarchical microarchitectures. *Science*, 2013, **340**(6134), 832-837.
- 134. Polyakov, A.O., Arkenbout, A.H., Baas, J., Blake, G.R., Meetsma, A., Caretta, A., van Loosdrecht, P.H.M. and Palstra, T.T.M. Coexisting ferromagnetic and ferroelectric order in a CuCl₄-based organic–inorganic hybrid. *Chem. Mater.*, 2011, **24**(1), 133-139.

- 135. Tayi, A.S., Shveyd, A.K., Sue, A.C.H., Szarko, J.M., Rolczynski, B.S., Cao, D., Kennedy, T.J., Sarjeant, A.A., Stern, C.L., Paxton, W.F., Wu, W., Dey, S.K., Fahrenbach, A.C., Guest, J.R., Mohseni, H., Chen, L.X., Wang, K.L., Stoddart, J.F. and Stupp, S.I., Room-temperature ferroelectricity in supramolecular networks of charge-transfer complexes. *Nat.*, 2012, **488**(7412), 485-489.
- 136. Pardo, E., Train, C., Liu, H., Chamoreau, L.M., Dkhil, B., Boubekeur, K., Lloret, F., Nakatani, K., Tokoro, H., Ohkoshi, S.I. and Verdaguer, M. Multiferroics by rational design, implementing ferroelectricity in molecule-based magnets. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 2012, **51**(33), 8356-8360.
- Gao, M., Lu, C., Jean-Ruel, H., Liu, L.C., Marx, A., Onda, K., Koshihara, S.y., Nakano, Y., Shao, X., Hiramatsu, T., Saito, G., Yamochi, H., Cooney, R.R., Moriena, G., Sciaini, G. and Miller, R.J.D. Mapping molecular motions leading to charge delocalization with ultrabright electrons. *Nat.*, 2013, 496(7445), 343-346.
- 138. Jerome, D. The physics of organic superconductors. Science, 1991, 252(5012), 1509-1514.
- 139. Horiuchi, S., Tokunaga, Y., Giovannetti, G., Picozzi, S., Itoh, H., Shimano, R., Kumai, R. and Tokura, Y. Above-room-temperature ferroelectricity in a single-component molecular crystal. *Nat.*, 2010, **463**(**7282**), 789-792.

Received 23 February 2014 Accepted 7 April 2014